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“They came to take our father at night, like thieves…”  

Fatima al-Assad, age 12, daughter of Muhammad al-Assad,  

who “disappeared” after his arrest in 2003 

 

 

 

“Brother, what is your name, what village are you from?” It was distinctive Yemeni 
Arabic that greeted Muhammad al-Assad as he stumbled, still hooded and shackled, 
from the plane at Sana’a. For the first time in nearly 18 months he knew what country 
he was in. He heard the question repeated twice more, as Salah Nasser Salim ‘Ali and 
Muhammad Faraj Ahmed Bashmilah emerged onto the hot tarmac. He still could not 
see them, and had not known they were on the plane with him, but he could hear one 
of them shouting over and over again: “I am Bashmilah, I am Bashmilah, I am from 
Aden”.  

The three, all Yemeni nationals, had “disappeared” in 2003, and had been kept in 
complete isolation – even from each other – in a series of secret detention centres 
apparently run by US agents. Senior Yemeni officials have told Amnesty International 
that they first heard of the men in May 2005, when the US Embassy in Yemen 
informed them that the three would be flown to Sana’a and transferred to Yemeni 
custody the following day. No further information or evidence against the men was 
provided, but the Yemenis say they were instructed by the US to keep them in 
custody. All three continue to be held in a kind of extralegal limbo; they have not 
been charged with any offence, given any sentence, or brought before any court or 
judge. The only improvement in their situation, they say, is that their families now 
know that they are alive. 

Muhammad al-Assad’s odyssey began on the night of 26 December 2003, in Dar-es 
Salaam, Tanzania, where he had lived since 1985. As he told Amnesty International, 
he had just sat down to dinner with his Tanzanian wife, Zahra Salloum, and her 
brother and uncle. An immigration officer and two men from the state security forces 
came to the door, and ordered Muhammad al-Assad to surrender his passport and 
mobile phone. As he crossed over to his office to get the passport, he was grabbed 
from behind, a hood was forced over his head, and his hands were cuffed behind his 

Mohamed v. Jeppesen (appendix), 

No. 08-15693 archived on November 24, 2010



2 USA/Yemen : Secret Detention in CIA “Black Sites” 

 

Amnesty International  November 2005  AI Index: AMR 51/177/2005 
 

back. He was thrown into the back of a car, which sped away. “I was very 
frightened,” he said, “very frightened, and kept asking what was happening to me.”  
 
His captors did not reply. They took him to a flat, and questioned him for some four 
hours about his passport. He was then taken directly to a waiting airplane. Still 
hooded, he could see nothing, but heard the roar of the engines. As he was pushed up 
the stairs he asked where he was going. The guard told him: “we don’t know, we are 
just following orders, there are high-ranking ones who are responsible”.  
 
Muhammad al-Assad thought it was probably a small plane, his head was pushed 
down as he went through the door. He told Amnesty International he was too 
frightened to ask any further questions, instead he prayed to have patience, until the 
authorities discovered their mistake and let him go home. He is still waiting.   
 
Muhammad al-Assad calculates that he is about 45 years old. He has a short beard, 
and a perpetually anxious expression. His father described him as a “very gentle man, 
who is always laughing”. When Amnesty International interviewed him, in his cell at 
the political security prison in al-Ghaydah, in the governate of al-Mahra in eastern 
Yemen, he was solemn, and so soft-spoken in his replies that he was sometimes hard 
to hear, but there was never even the ghost of a smile on his face.  
 
Tanzanian immigration authorities initially told Zahra Salloum that her husband had 
been deported to Yemen because his passport was not valid, and this story was 
repeated in the local media.1 When she phoned Muhammad al-Assad’s 75-year-old 
father, Abdullah al-Assad, in Yemen, he traveled the 1,300 km from al-Ghaydah to 
the capital, Sana’a, to find his son. The Yemeni government gave him written 
assurances, which Amnesty International has seen, that his son had never entered the 
country. He carried on to Dar es Salaam, where he filed a habeas corpus petition with 
the Tanzanian courts. He was eventually told by Tanzanian officials that his son had 
been turned over to US custody, and that no one knew where he was.  
 
Two months earlier, in October 2003, Salah ‘Ali Nasser Salim ‘Ali and Muhammad 
Faraj Ahmed Bashmilah had been arrested in Jordan2, and held there briefly before 
they too were turned over to US custody. Their cases were first documented by 
Amnesty International in a report released in August 2005.3 

                                                
1 ‘Dar deports 2,367 aliens’, Daily News (Tanzania), 30 December 2003; ‘Yemeni, Italians expelled’, The 
Guardian (Tanzania), 30 December 2003. 
2 Both were initially detained in Indonesia, see below. 
3 USA/Jordan/Yemen: Torture and secret detention: Testimony of the “disappeared” in the “war on terror”, AI 
Index: AMR 51/108/2005 
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Illegal detentions, rendition and reverse rendition  

All three had entered the USA’s network of illegal detentions, secret transfers and 
unacknowledged prisons, where suspects are arbitrarily shuttled in and out of US 
custody, in what journalist Stephen Grey called “a worldwide traffic in prisoners”.4 
According to a former senior US intelligence official, the rules of this game were 
simple: “Grab whom you must. Do what you want.”5   

The goal of the network is not just to hold terrorist suspects and their supporters, but 
to collect intelligence through long-term interrogation, free from any legal restrictions 
or judicial oversight.  The bulk of the work is carried out at facilities under US 
military control in Afghanistan, Guantánamo Bay in Cuba and Iraq, which together 
hold at least  11,000 people.6  Most of them were detained in Afghanistan, Pakistan 
and Iraq, but others were transferred from countries including Albania, Bosnia, 
Croatia, Gambia, Indonesia, Italy, Jordan, Kenya, Libya, Pakistan, Macedonia, 
Malaysia, Sudan, Tanzania, and Zambia.7   

Long before Guantánamo opened its gates to “war on terror” detainees, however, the 
USA had been secretly transferring terror suspects into the custody of other states, 
states where physical and psychological brutality feature prominently in 
interrogations. Known to the US Administration as “extraordinary rendition,” and to 
its critics as the “outsourcing of torture”, the program has expanded considerably, 
reportedly under a classified directive signed by President Bush in late September 
2001.8  It has been estimated that the US Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), often 

                                                
4 Stephen Grey, ‘United States: trade in torture’, Le Monde Diplomatique, April 2005  
5 Seymour Hersh,  Chain of Command : The Road from 9/11 to Abu Ghraib, Harper Perennial, August 2005, p. 51. 
6 Figures from the Second Periodic Report of the United States of America to the Committee Against Torture, 
Submitted by the United States of America to the Committee Against Torture, May 6, 2005. See also Dana Priest 
and Joe Stephens, ‘Secret World of U.S. Interrogation: Long History of Tactics in Overseas Prisons Is Coming to 
Light’, Washington Post, May 11, 2004, Page A01  
7  See Grey op cit, and AI Index: AMR 51/114/2003, United States of America : The threat of a bad 
example - Undermining international standards as "war on terror" detentions continue. 
8See pages 107-116 of USA: Human dignity denied, USA: Human dignity denied: Torture and accountability in 
the ‘war on terror’, AMR 51/145/2004, 27 October 2004. "Extraordinary rendition" is proving increasingly 
controversial even within the US Congress.  Congressman Edward Markey argued in an editorial in the Boston 
Globe (12/03/2005) that: "Sending prisoners overseas to extract information through water torture, removal of 
toenails and fingernails, beatings, and electrocution at the request of US officials is inhumane and must be 
stopped." However, bills in the House and Senate which would curtail the practice of obtaining perfunctory 
diplomatic assurances from countries with an established record of torture stalled this year.  Although 
Congressman Markey was successful in attaching a number of spending restrictions on various bills to prohibit the 
funds distributed by the spending bills from being spent on renditions, neither the House nor the Senate has 
addressed the substantive issue of diplomatic assurances.  On 5 October 2005, by a vote of 90 to 9, the US Senate 
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using covert airplanes leased by fictional front companies,9  has flown hundreds of 
war on terror suspects to countries including Egypt, Jordan, Morocco, Pakistan, Qatar, 
Saudi Arabia, and Syria.10  
 
In another variation, sometimes called “reverse rendition”, US agents have abducted 
suspects on foreign soil, or assumed custody of detainees from other countries, in 
transfers that completely bypass any legal process or human rights protections. Some 
of the victims of reverse rendition have later turned up in Guantánamo, but the most 
sinister and least well-documented cases are those of the detainees who have simply 
“disappeared” after being detained by the USA or turned over to US custody.   
 
It has been widely reported that the US is holding a small coterie of some two to three 
dozen “high-value” detainees at secret CIA-run facilities outside the USA.11  The US 
admits that these men are in custody, but no one knows for sure where the likes of 
alleged al-Qa’ida  leaders Ramzi bin al-Shibh, Khalid Shaikh Mohammed, and Abu 
Zubaida are being held. The locations are deemed to be too sensitive even to be 
revealed to the leaders of the US House and Senate intelligence committees. 12 
 
The cases of the three “disappeared” Yemenis documented in this report, however, 
suggest that the network of clandestine interrogation centres is not reserved solely for 
high-value detainees, but may be larger, more comprehensive and better organized 
than previously suspected. 
 
These three men were kept in at least four different secret facilities, which were likely 
to have been in different countries, judging by the length of their connecting flights. 
There have been persistent reports that the USA operates secret detention centres in 
Afghanistan, Iraq, Jordan, Pakistan, Qatar, Thailand, Uzbekistan and other locations 
in Eastern Europe13, as well as on the British Indian Ocean territory of Diego 
Garcia14. The UK government has denied that there is a detention centre on Diego 

                                                                                                                                       
passed an amendment sponsored by Senator John McCain, requiring humane treatment of detainees in US custody 
or control. However, even if the amendment is agreed by the House and the Senate, President Bush has threatened 
to veto the bill. 
9 Dana Priest and Joe Stephens, ‘Secret World of U.S. Interrogation: Long History of Tactics in Overseas Prisons 
Is Coming to Light’, Washington Post, May 11, 2004, Page A01  
10 Jason Burke, ‘Secret World of US Jails’, in the Observer, June 13 2004.  
11 See pages 103-116 of ‘Human Dignity Denied’, op cit. See also,  
http://www.defenselink.mil/transcripts/2004/tr20040714-1002.html   
12 Yossi Melman, a security analyst for Israel’s Haaretz newspaper, reported last year that the men were being held 
in Jordan. See “CIA holding Al-Qaida suspects in secret Jordanian lockup”, Haaretz, 10/13/04. 
13 Dana Priest, ‘CIA holds terror suspects in secret prisons’, Washington Post, 2 November 2005 
14 Established as a territory of the UK in 1965, Diego Garcia contains a joint UK-US naval support facility. 
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Garcia, while the USA has been more equivocal. In a Defense Department Briefing in 
July 2004, Lawrence Di Rita, the Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense for 
Public Affairs, was questioned about the existence of US detention centres hidden 
from the ICRC. Di Rita said categorically that “the ICRC has access “to all detainee 
operations under our [Department of Defense] control.  And beyond that, I'm just not 
prepared to discuss it.” Pressed on whether detainees were held in secret on Diego 
Garcia by other US agencies, he replied: “I don't know.  I simply don't know.” The 
US State Department, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and the CIA have all 
declined to comment on these reports. 
 
As pressures mount on the US Administration to close Guantánamo, reform Abu 
Ghraib prison in Iraq, and turn detention centres in Afghanistan over to the Afghan 
government, there is a risk that the pervasive disregard for human rights protections at 
the heart of current detention policy will lead to more frequent recourse to secret 
measures, which can only lead to further grave violations of human rights. 
 
The pattern of illegal arrests, covert transfers and secret and incommunicado detention 
described in this report violates the most fundamental rights of detainees: the right not 
to be arbitrarily arrested, the right of access to lawyers, families, doctors, the right to 
have families informed of arrest or place of detention, the right to be promptly 
brought before a judge or other judicial official, the right to challenge the lawfulness 
of detention and the right to be free from torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading 
treatment, as guaranteed by a battery of international human rights standards, as well 
as the US Constitution. 
 
Detention by proxy: arrests in Indonesia, Jordan and Tanzania  
 
The process by which the three men were screened for transfer into secret detention 
suggests that US agencies are placing considerable reliance on foreign security and 
intelligence services, most of which have been roundly criticized for their methods in 
the US State Department’s own Country Reports on Human Rights Practices. Each 
one of the men – Muhammad al-Assad in Tanzania, and Salah ‘Ali and Muhammad 
Bashmilah in Indonesia – was initially detained and questioned by immigration 
officials. A retired intelligence official has told Amnesty International that this is a 
common investigative tactic, even within the USA. It is often the case, he said, that 
foreign nationals have some visa irregularity that can justify questioning, and 
immigration regulations in most countries are so arcane and confusing that even those 
with legitimate visas and passports can be made to think there might be some problem 
with their status. Moreover, he added, “it’s a good opportunity to check the passport, 
both to try and confirm the identity and to give you a chance to see where they’ve 
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been. It also helps if you can have a look at their cellphones and see who they’ve been 
talking to.”15 
 
In the case of Muhammad al-Assad, the connection that seems to have led to his long 
detention was a tenuous link to a blacklisted charity. Muhammad al-Assad ran a small 
business in Dar es Salaam importing diesel engine parts, and renting out offices in a 
small building he owned. Some six years before his arrest, he had leased space to the 
Al-Haramain Islamic Foundation, a Saudi Arabian charity identified by the USA after 
9/11 as a possible link in terrorist funding. Muhammad al-Assad also signed a 
guarantee for the charity’s registration in Tanzania, but said that his only contact with 
them after that was to collect the rent.16 
 

In the summer of 2003, he was in Dubai on business when his brother-in-law called to 
tell him that the authorities had been asking questions about the charity. Muhammad 
al-Assad returned to Tanzania, but was not contacted by the police. In October, the 
immigration authorities summoned him to their offices, telling him to bring his 
Tanzanian passport and mobile phone. They did not question him about his 
immigration status, only asked him about a man with a red car, who had recently 
visited the Al-Haramain offices. Muhammad al-Assad said he had not seen him, and 
they asked him to leave his passport, and return for it the following day. This he did, 
and heard nothing more until he was arrested in December.  

The detentions of Salah ‘Ali and Muhammad Bashmilah seem to have been 
automatically triggered when they admitted to having visited Afghanistan. Salah ‘Ali 
was first taken into custody by Indonesian immigration officials in Jakarta in August 
2003, ostensibly for questioning about his visa, although he was initially detained in 
an intelligence services centre. He remained chained to the wall in a cell there, 
without food, for three days. His wife Aisha tried three times to visit him, but was 
refused access. He knew she was trying to call him, he told Amnesty International, 
because his mobile had been left outside his cell, just out of reach, and it rang 
incessantly until the batteries went dead.  
  

                                                
15 Amnesty International interview, October 2005. The official did not wish to be named. 

16 In January 2004, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the U.S. Department of the Treasury jointly designated four 
additional Al Haramain branches -- Indonesia, Tanzania, Kenya and Pakistan -- as being supporters of terrorism.  
http://japan.usembassy.gov/e/p/tp-20040220-04.html, accessed 6 October 2005. CBS news reported in June 2004 
that “U.S. officials have privately conceded that only a small percentage of the total [funding] was diverted and 
that few of those who worked for Al-Haramain knew money was being funneled to Osama bin Laden's terrorist 
organization.”, http://www.cbsnews.com/stories/2004/06/07/terror/main621621.shtml, accessed 7 October 2005. 
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Salah ‘Ali was transferred to a deportation centre, where he was held for three weeks, 
then given a ticket to Yemen via Thailand and Jordan. Aisha, an Indonesian national, 
was in her last month of pregnancy and could not travel with him. In Jordan, he was 
taken off the plane, and questioned by the General Intelligence Department, Da’irat 
al-Mukhabarat al-‘Ammah (GID), who asked him right away if he had ever been in 
Afghanistan. He answered yes (there was already a stamp was in his passport, he told 
us), and was taken into custody and interrogated for 10 days about “jihad in 
Afghanistan”. He told Amnesty International that the questions made no sense to him, 
because they didn’t relate to the same period he had spent there, so “I was tortured 
horribly. It was very bad.”   

Salah ‘Ali described being suspended from the ceiling and having the soles of his feet 
beaten so badly that when they took him down from the hooks he had to crawl back to 
his cell.17 He was stripped and beaten by a ring of masked soldiers with sticks. “When 
one got tired of hitting me, they would replace him,” he told Amnesty International. 
“They tried to force me to walk like an animal, on my hands and feet, and I refused, 
so they stretched me out on the floor and walked on me and put their shoes in my 
mouth”. Another time, he said, a guard noticed he had a bad foot, and forced him to 
stand on it throughout the night while they interrogated him: sometimes during 
interrogation they held plates of food near his face while they ate, although he was not 
fed; sometimes they put cigarettes out on his arm. 

After about 10 days the Jordanian guards hooded and shackled him, and stuffed foam 
into his ears before driving him to an airstrip. He was taken onto a plane and laid out 
on his back on the floor or a stretcher, his arms chained to the floor. He flew for about 
three or four hours, he says, and when he arrived, he was taken to see an English-
speaking doctor, and then by English-speaking guards to his cell. 

Muhammad Bashmilah had first been arrested in Indonesia in August 2003, as he and 
his wife stepped off a train in Surabaya; in his case too, his captors identified 
themselves as immigration officials. Zahra, his Indonesian wife, was allowed to go, 
while Muhammad Bashmilah was moved to Jakarta to be questioned about his 
passport and identity card, and more extensively about his movements since leaving 
Yemen in 1999, including his three-month visit to Afghanistan in 2000.  

He was released in September, and he and his wife travelled to Jordan to meet his 
mother, who had gone to Amman to have a heart operation. On arrival in Jordan, his 
passport was taken and he was told to report to the GID to collect it. He went several 
times, but did not get his passport back. On his fourth visit, on 19 October 2003, he 
was asked if he had ever been to Afghanistan; as soon as he said yes, he was 
handcuffed and taken to the intelligence detention centre.  
                                                
17 A form of torture known as falaqa 
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Muhammad Bashmilah is a small, vibrant man, about 38 years old, who speaks 
openly, if caustically, about most aspects of his detention. On both occasions he has 
been interviewed by Amnesty International, however, he has broken down in tears in 
the attempt to describe his treatment in the GID’s cells in Jordan. A prison official in 
Yemen told Amnesty International that he believed Muhammad Bashmilah had been 
tortured even more severely than Salah ‘Ali. 

After three days in custody, Muhammad Bashmilah said that he was allowed to see 
his mother for 10 minutes. She later told him that she had returned the following day 
only to be told “your son is a terrorist”, and that he had been removed to Saudi Arabia 
or Iraq.  

In fact, he says, he had been taken in the early hours of the morning from his cell to an 
airstrip about 30 minutes away. Already hooded, his clothes were cut “very harshly” 
from his body and replaced with blue clothing, and he was shackled and cuffed. He 
says he felt completely disoriented, still in shock over his treatment in Jordan, and 
very frightened for his wife and mother. 

Although Muhammad Bashmilah and Salah ‘Ali were friends from Aden and 
Indonesia, they had not been held together in Jordan, and neither knew that the other 
was in custody.  

Amnesty International first raised the case of Muhammad Bashmilah’s 
“disappearance” in a letter to the Jordanian authorities in April of 2005, before he had 
re-appeared in Yemen. There was no response, and no acknowledgement that he had 
ever been in Jordanian custody. Following the release of Amnesty International’s 
report in August 2005, which included accounts from both Salah ‘Ali and Muhammad 
Bashmilah of their detention in Jordan, the Jordanian GID claimed: “…the recent 
allegations on torturing Yemeni citizens (Saleh Naser Salm Ali and Mohammad Faraj 
Bashmela) highlighted the size of false allegations targeting Jordan, noting that the 
abovementioned Yemenis were NEVER detained at the GID detention center, 
however, they were merely deported for exceeding their residence permit, and left to 
Iraq.”18  As subsequent events make clear, however, neither of the men was deported 
from Jordan, although both were transferred from Jordanian custody. 

 
 
 

 

 

                                                
18 emails to Amnesty International members, who had written to the GID about the cases of the two men. 
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Transferred to US custody  
The men do not know where they were taken. They may well have been transferred 
out on the same plane, as they left at about the same time, both describe a small plane 
with US guards, and both say they travelled some three to four hours. From Amman 
they could have reached Iraq in that time, although they could just as easily have 
ended up in Sudan, Turkey or parts of Eastern Europe.  In any case, it is clear that 
they arrived in the same place, on or about the same day. In separate interviews with 
Amnesty International, they both described a windowless, underground facility. Each 
was kept in isolation, in a cell measuring about 1.5 x 2m, containing a bucket for a 
toilet, a foam mattress and a Qur’an.  

During the six months they spent there, they left their cells only to be interrogated. 
They were asked over and over again about their activities in Afghanistan and 
Indonesia, and were shown dozens of photos, including of each other.  

If they found anyone they recognised in the photos, they were brought back for more 
questioning, otherwise, they remained alone in their empty cells. Muhammad 
Bashmilah says that he was once shown a photo of Taysir Alluni, the al-Jazeera 
journalist, and told that if he said he knew him, his situation would improve19. “I did 
know him,” he told Amnesty International with a grin, “but they found out it was only 
from the television, and there were no favours for me.” Neither one ever saw any 
other detainee, although both believe that others were held there. Muhammad 
Bashmilah said there were several interrogators, both men and women: all of them 
were white, wore Western clothing, and spoke English with US accents. There were 
also a number of different interpreters, some of them native Arabic speakers. “They 
were not all there for us”, he said. 

The third man, Muhammad al Assad, estimates that his initial flight from Dar es 
Salaam took about two to three hours.  He recalls that they landed in a hot place, and 
he thinks that one of the jailers who took him to the interrogation room spoke Arabic 
with a Somali or Ethiopian accent, and that the bread he was given was typical of East 
Africa. But of his arrival, less than 12 hours after being dragged from his home, he 
remembers only fear and confusion. The guards brought him from the plane, and left 
him, still hooded and shackled, in what turned out to be his cell. “I was so afraid that I 
couldn’t move,” he said, “so I stood very still there for a very long time until finally 
someone looked in and shouted in Arabic: ‘sit down’.”  

                                                
19 Taysir Alluni was arrested at his home in Spain in 2003 on suspicion of having links with al- Qa’ida. In 
September 2005 he was convicted of acting as financial courier to the al- Qa’ida network, and sentenced to seven 
years. 
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When they removed his cuffs and hood, he found he was in a large, dirty room, bare 
except for a foam mattress and some matting on the floor. He saw two small windows 
up near the ceiling, about 20cm square, and there was a little hole in the door for his 
food to be handed through. He would be there for about two weeks. In what was to 
become a familiar pattern, no one spoke a word to him but his interrogator and 
translator. 

His interrogator at this location was a white, English-speaking woman, her translator a 
white Western man; both appeared to be in their 30s and were dressed in civilian 
clothes. Muhammad al-Assad speaks a little English, and thinks both were from the 
US.  

Muhammad al-Assad had three or four interrogation sessions with them, and said the 
interrogator herself never threatened him, although the translator told him, when he 
could not respond to a question: “you have to understand that your children will be 
orphans.”  The translator was fluent in Arabic, although it was clearly not his native 
tongue. Muhammad al-Assad said he once complimented him on his Arabic, and the 
translator retorted with a familiar Arabic saying: “the one who learns the other’s 
language avoids their tricks”.  

They quizzed him about al-Haramain and its employees, mostly concentrating on two 
men, the current and former directors. They wanted to know all about the men’s 
movements, their friends and contacts, and relationship to Muhammad al-Assad. They 
also asked many questions about al-Haramain’s activities. He says he told them 
everything he knew, which wasn’t much, and they said they would be sending him to 
another country. He took this to mean they would send him back to Tanzania.  

After about two weeks, however, he was given a Western-style shirt and trousers in a 
heavier fabric, and taken back to the airfield. This plane, he felt, was large, and he was 
made to lie on the floor or a bench. He remained hooded and cuffed, and had 
something wrapped around his ears. He thinks the plane flew for a long time, perhaps 
eight hours, then touched down for about an hour, then flew again for about three 
hours.  

When he was taken off the plane, he felt that the weather was much colder. His new 
cell was a bit larger, although completely windowless and empty, except for matting 
on the floor. He did not have any blanket and was very cold. There was a toilet 
outside his cell and he was taken there three times a day.  

After about nine days alone in his cell, the interrogation started. This time the 
interrogator and translator were both white men, perhaps in their 40s, but the 
questions remained exactly the same. He talked to no one else; the guards, who were 
also English-speaking, came to bring him food and take him to the toilet, but never 
spoke to him or answered any of his questions.  
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He stayed there for about two weeks, and was then taken by car to a place about 20 
minutes away. There he was put in a cell that was smaller and older, but otherwise 
very similar, and he stayed there about three months. He was brought irregularly to 
the same interrogator who had questioned him at the previous place, otherwise he did 
not leave the room.  

 
“Black site” detention 
 
The last of Muhammad al-Assad’s secret transfers took place in what he estimates to 
be late April 2004. The flight lasted some five or six hours; when the plane landed, he 
was transferred to a helicopter, where he was thrown roughly to the floor. He says he 
felt the presence of others on the floor with him. It is indeed possible that the others 
included Salah ‘Ali and Muhammad Bashmilah, who were also transferred to their 
final secret destination at about this time, and who also describe a flight landing 
followed by transfer in a helicopter. Salah ‘Ali now jokes about it, and calls it the last 
leg of his world tour. Muhammad Bashmilah says this flight took place between 22 
and 24 April. 

Descriptions of the new facility and its detention regime were given to Amnesty 
International separately by the three men; Muhammad al-Assad has never met or 
spoken to Salah ‘Ali and Muhammad Bashmilah. Their accounts are cohesive and 
consistent; whether or not they arrived on the same day, they were clearly held in the 
same place.  

It was no makeshift military camp but a purpose-built facility, or at least one that had 
been extensively refurbished in an effort to make it as anonymous as possible. There 
were no pictures or ornaments on the walls, no floor coverings, no windows, no 
natural light.  The only clue to its construction, according to Salah ‘Ali, was that it 
was not Arab-built, as the toilets faced the direction of Mecca. The description of the 
facility tallies with a Washington Post report of the covert prison system run by the 
CIA, in which secret detention facilities in some eight countries are referred to as 
“black sites”.20 

Once again, the men were held in complete isolation, and never spoke a word to 
anyone except their interrogators. In a bizarre twist, the silent guards were covered in 
black from head to toe – Muhammad Bashmilah described them as “ninjas” – and 
communicated only by hand gestures. It is a description that would seem like pure 

                                                
20 Dana Priest, ‘CIA holds terror suspects in secret prisons’, Washington Post, 2 November 2005 
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fantasy if it had not been corroborated by other detainees who have spent time in 
secret US detention.21  

Inside their cells, there was a constant low-level hum of white noise from the 
loudspeakers, which sometimes played western music and, towards the end of their 
stay, occasional verses from the Qur’an. With artificial light kept on 24 hours a day, 
morning, noon and night were marked only by the kinds of meals served, or because it 
was time to pray. 
 
There was nothing haphazard or makeshift about the detention regime, it was 
carefully designed to induce maximum disorientation, dependence and stress in the 
detainees. The men were subjected to extreme sensory deprivation; for over a year 
they did not know what country they were in, whether it was night or day, whether it 
was raining or sunny. They spoke to no one but their interrogators, through 
translators, and no one spoke to them. For the first six to eight months, they spent 
nearly every waking hour staring at the four blank walls of their cells, leaving only to 
go to interrogation, and once a week, to the showers.  

The men were all given a Qur’an, a watch, a prayer mat and prayer schedules, and 
told the direction of Mecca. Muhammad Bashmilah and Salah ‘Ali both said that the 
watch and schedule were manipulated by a few minutes each month to make sure the 
times didn’t correspond exactly to their actual location.  
 

By the last four to six months of their stay, even the interrogators had run out of 
questions, and formal interrogation sessions stopped almost completely. There were 
times when they spoke to no one at all for weeks on end. Muhammad al-Assad says 
that one of the interrogators visited him in his cell a few times, to ask if he needed 
anything. He always asked why he was there, and the interrogator always replied: 
“God brought you here and only God can bring you out”.  

None of the men ever saw each other, or any other detainee, although Muhammad al-
Assad remembers that once the electricity went off, and he heard different voices 
shouting in Arabic. In any case, the system they describe could not have been 
maintained solely for the purpose of interrogating three low-level detainees. In their 
daily routines, the men began to pick up some indications of the capacity of the 
facility. All three have told Amnesty International that during the final months of their 

                                                
21 Khaled el-Masri, a German citizen, said that was detained in Macedonia in December 2003, before being 
transferred to a secret US-run prison in Afghanistan. He described guards wearing black masks and black gloves, 
and told the Guardian that there were other prisoners there from Pakistan, Tanzania, Yemen and Saudi Arabia. El-
Masri said that he was held for five months and interrogated by Americans through an interpreter.  Isotope analysis 
of his hair carried out in Germany in 2004 confirmed that he had been in Afghanistan.  
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stay, they were given a multi-page list of books, from which they could choose 
several to keep in their cells. Muhammad al-Assad thinks the list contained some 600 
titles, in different languages, including the three he recognizes (Arabic, English and 
Swahili).  It’s a generous reading list by any standards. Although videos were not on 
the list, Salah ‘Ali was told that there were some available, so he asked for a film on 
the life of the prophet, called “The Message”.  He was taken to a small room to see it 
a few days later, again suggesting that the facility had the capacity to maintain a 
significant stock of books and videos.  
  
The men were taken to shower every Friday. Muhammad Bashmilah says they were 
given two cotton ear swabs each week, and each week he counted the number of 
swabs left in the bin, eventually concluding that there could be up to 20 others using 
his shower room. He also said that loud music was played during the 15 minutes or so 
each detainee spent in the shower room, and that counting the musical interludes also 
led him to conclude that about 20 people were held in his section. He has no idea, 
however, whether the facility may have contained more than one section. 
 
During the last four months of his captivity, Muhammad al-Assad says, he was finally 
allowed to take some exercise. He was given a ball and taken to a small hall to play 
football on his own for half an hour three times a week.  At about the same time, he 
met the new Prison Director. “He said he had come from the US, for the sake of the 
prisoners to see who is innocent and who is guilty,” Muhammad al-Assad said. “He 
was quite harsh at our first meeting, but the next time he was kinder, I think he read 
my file. He said that I was at the top of the list to be released.” 

 
Salah ‘Ali describes a similar regime, although he was convinced that the prison was 
underground. He was interrogated only for the first six weeks, and throughout this 
time, he said, he remained in shackles, day and night. Sometimes, he told Amnesty 
International, even when he was taking his weekly shower, the guards would cuff one 
of his arms up over his head, and force him to wash using one hand. He says he went 
on hunger strike for 29 days to force the authorities “to recognize I was there and to 
get some improvements”. He was eventually taken to another cell, where a tube was 
put up his nose and he was force fed. Afterwards, he says, he was given a blanket and 
his leg irons were removed. 
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Torture, ill-treatment and “disappearance”: violations of international law 
None of the men has alleged that they were beaten at this facility, but that does not 
make the regime they endured benign or humane. Torture and ill-treatment take many 
forms. Prolonged isolation has been shown to cause depression, paranoia, aggression, 
hallucinations and suicide. The psychological trauma can last a lifetime.22 Where the 
detainee has been “disappeared”, the effects of enforced solitude are compounded by 
a pervasive sense of uncertainty and anxiety about the future, which can be similarly 
destructive.23  

Incommunicado detention has been condemned by human rights bodies, and by the 
United Nations Special Rapporteur on Torture, as a human rights violation that also 
facilitates other violations such as torture or ill-treatment.  Related practices, such as 
hooding, cuffing and shackling, isolation and “white noise”  impair the sight, the 
hearing and the sense of smell of the individual who is subjected to it, lead to 
disorientation and an increased sense of vulnerability, and cause mental and physical 
suffering.  
 
Secret detention is prohibited under international human rights standards. Principle 6 
of the UN Principles on the Effective Prevention and Investigation of Extra-legal, 
Arbitrary and Summary Executions states that "governments shall ensure that persons 
deprived of their liberty are held in officially recognized places of custody, and that 
accurate information on their custody and whereabouts, including transfers, is made 
promptly available to their relatives and lawyers or other persons of confidence."24   
 
The Human Rights Committee, in an authoritative statement on the prohibition on 
torture and cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment, has stated that "to guarantee the 
effective protection of detained persons, provisions should be made for detainees to be 
held in places officially recognized as places of detention and for their names and 

                                                
22 In 2004, a group of psychologists and psychiatrists examined eight people being detained under anti-terrorist 
legislation in the UK. They found “that serious damage to the health of all the detainees they have examined has 
occurred and is inevitable under a regime which consists of indefinite detention.”  All of the detainees “now suffer 
from significant levels of depression and anxiety. The symptoms are of clinical severity and have shown a 
deterioration over time.” Most of the detainees had suicidal thoughts, some had attempted to hang themselves, and 
several developed significant psychotic symptoms. The study also concluded that: “Deterioration in mood state  is 
clearly linked to a sense of helplessness and hopelessness which is an integral aspect of indefinite detention.”  See 
Professor Ian Robbins, Dr James MacKeith, Professor Michael Kopelman, Dr Clive Meux, Dr Sumi Ratnam, Dr 
Richard Taylor, Dr Sophie Davison and Dr David Somekh, The Psychiatric Problems of Detainees under the 2001 
Antiterrorism Crime and Security Act, 13 October 2004, http://www.statewatch.org/news/2004/nov/belmarsh-
mh.pdf, accessed 5 January 2005. The report was endorsed by the Royal College of Psychiatrists. 
23 Combating torture: a manual for action, Amnesty International, 2003. See also Human Rights First, Behind  the 
Wire: An Update to Ending Secret Detentions , March 2005, p 30. 
http://www.humanrightsfirst.org/us_law/PDF/behind-the-wire-033005.pdf 
24 Recommended by the UN Economic and Social Council resolution 1989/65 of 24 May 1989. 
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places of detention… to be kept in registers readily available and accessible to those 
concerned, including relatives and friends".25  
 
The UN Special Rapporteur on torture has also said that "the maintenance of secret 
places of detention should be abolished under law. It should be a punishable offence 
for any official to hold a person in a secret and/or unofficial place of detention."26 

“Disappearances” are crimes under international law, involving multiple human rights 
violations. In certain circumstances they are crimes against humanity, and can be 
prosecuted in international criminal proceedings.  The defining characteristic of a 
“disappearance” is that it puts the victim beyond the protection of the law, while at the 
same time concealing the violations from outside scrutiny, making them harder to 
expose and condemn, and allowing governments to avoid accountability. The United 
Nations General Assembly has said that enforced disappearance “constitutes an 
offence to human dignity, a grave and flagrant violation of human rights and 
fundamental freedoms ...”27 The ICRC has said of “disappearances”, that “no one has 
the right to keep that person's fate or whereabouts secret or to deny that he or she is 
being detained. This practice runs counter to the basic tenets of international 
humanitarian law and human rights law.”28 
 

The UN, “Declaration on the Protection of All Persons from Enforced 
Disappearances” of 1992 states that "any act of enforced disappearance is an offence 
to human dignity", which  "places the persons subjected thereto outside the protection 
of the law and inflicts severe suffering on them and their families. It constitutes a 
violation of the rules of international law guaranteeing, inter alia, the right to 
recognition as a person before the law, the right to liberty and security of the person 
and the right not to be subjected to torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading 
treatment or punishment. It also violates or constitutes a grave threat to the right to 
life".    

                                                
25 Human Rights Committee, General Comment 20, Article 7 (Forty-fourth session, 1992), Compilation of General 
Comments and General Recommendations Adopted by Human Rights Treaty Bodies, UN Doc. HRI\GEN\1\Rev.1 
at 30 (1994), para. 11. Accurate and detailed registers of detainees are required under international law and 
standards, including the UN Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners and the UN Body of 
Principles for the Protection of All Persons under Any Form of Detention or Imprisonment, the Geneva 
Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War of 12 August 1949 (Third Geneva Convention), Articles 
122 to 125 and the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War (Fourth 
Geneva Convention), Articles 136 to 141. 
26 UN Doc. E/CN.4/2002/76, 27 December 2001, Annex 1. 
 
27 UN General Assembly, “Question of Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances”, New York: United Nations, 
1994 
28 ‘Enforced disappearance must stop’,  ICRC Press Release 03/60, 30 August 2003 
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The Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court defines the crime against 
humanity of “enforced disappearance of persons” as  “the arrest, detention or 
abduction of persons by, or with the authorization, support or acquiescence of, a State 
or a political organization, followed by a refusal to acknowledge that deprivation of 
freedom or to give information on the fate or whereabouts of those persons, with the 
intention of removing them from the protection of the law for a prolonged period of 
time.” 29 

The UN Committee Against Torture has determined that the uncertainty regarding the 
circumstances surrounding their loved ones’ fate  “causes the families of disappeared 
persons serious and continuous suffering”.30 
 
This is certainly the case for the families of these three men. They have finally 
discovered that the men are alive, but are still suffering the emotional and economic 
impact of their “disappearance” and continued detention. When Muhammad al-Assad 
was transferred to Yemen, his wife Zahra Salloum and their five children came from 
their home in Dar es Salaam to the remote and dusty town of al-Ghaydah. He had 
never seen his youngest daughter, born after his arrest; the family named her Sabra, 
meaning “patient one”. They all live in the house of Muhammad al-Assad’s father, 
with his three wives and 10 of their children. Zahra Salloum speaks no Arabic, and 
none of the women in the family speak Swahili. She prepares meals for Muhammad 
al-Assad every day, but is only able to visit him in the prison once or twice a week.  
 
The Indonesian wives of Salah ‘Ali and Muhammad Bashmilah are even less 
fortunate. Salah ‘Ali’s wife, Aisha, had a baby girl after he was detained, and he has 
yet to even see her, although he has now been permitted a couple of telephone 
conversations with his wife. The family does not have enough money to travel to 
Yemen, and without him, they have no means of support in Indonesia. They are 
destitute, he says, “sometimes they cannot afford milk for the little girl”.  
 
Zahra, Muhammad Bashmilah’s wife in Indonesia, has also been unable to travel to 
Yemen, and he has not seen her for more than two years. His father died in September 
2004, without ever finding out what had happened to his son, and his mother remains 
extremely ill. She did not go ahead with her heart operation because of his arrest and 
“disappearance” in Jordan, and now also suffers what appears to be a thyroid ailment. 

                                                
29 The Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, Art. 7(2)(i). Article 7(1) provides that a crime against 
humanity under the Statute, means an act listed in that Article (including “enforced disappearances of persons”) 
“when committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack directed against any civilian population, with 
knowledge of the attack”.  
30 Concluding observations of the Committee against Torture: Guatemala, UN Doc. A/56/44, 6 December 2000, 
para. 73(e). 
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Despite her frailty, she insists on making the trek to the Central Prison in Aden, nearly 
every day, in the intense midday heat, to see her son. He has asked her to stop, but she 
refuses. “She suffers a lot to see me”, he admits, and says he is consumed with 
worries over her health. 
 
Arbitrary detention in Yemen under US direction  
 
The three men were sent to Yemen on 5 May 2005. Rajih Hunaish, the 
Undersecretary of the Central Organ for Political Security, told Amnesty International 
that the Yemeni government was notified of the return only 24 hours before the plane 
landed at Sana’a. It is not clear whether the Yemeni government knows the origin of 
the flight, when asked for a flight plan Rajih Hunaish said it would indeed be normal 
for a flight plan to be filed, but that they had no information about this specific flight, 
and his office would have to check into it further. Amnesty International has not yet 
received any response.  
 
The men were held in the political security prison at Sana’a for about two weeks 
before Muhammad al-Assad was transferred to al-Ghaydah; he has still never met 
Salah ‘Ali and Muhammad Bashmilah, who were sent to Aden. A number of Yemeni 
officials, including the Chairman of the Central Organ for Political Security, Ghalib 
al-Qamish, have told Amnesty International that US officials had given them explicit 
instructions on the continued detention of the three men, and that they are “awaiting 
files” from the US, so that they can try them. When asked if the men would be 
released if the US requested it, Rajih Hunaish said, without hesitation, “yes”.  He told 
Amnesty International that notification of the transfer in May, and further instructions 
on the detention of the three men, came from the US Embassy in Sana’a.   
 
Amnesty International met US Embassy officials in Sana’a, and submitted additional 
questions to the Embassy in writing. In his reply, the Chief, Political/Economic and 
Commercial Section noted: “The U.S. Government relinquishes all custody and 
control over detainees transferred from Guantanamo Bay to the exclusive control of 
another government.  There are no conditions attached.” However, when asked if this 
meant that the US was confirming that the men had been released from Guantánamo, 
the official replied: “As a matter of policy, I am not permitted to talk about the details 
of any particular case; I can only share information on general policies.”31 
 
Amnesty International does not accept the assertion that the men were held in 
Guantánamo, a claim which continues to be repeated in the Yemeni press and by 

                                                
31 email correspondence dated 16 October 2005 and 18 October 2005 
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some Yemeni authorities, and which the US Embassy now appears to be promoting. 
However, the men could not have come from Guantánamo, the USA did not transfer 
any Guantánamo detainees to Yemen in May 2005, in fact, there were no detainee 
transfers at all on record between 28 April and 20 July. There was no ICRC 
notification of their detention, and they were never given access to ICRC officials. 
Although the ICRC is mandated to follow up on all cases of detainees transferred 
from Guantánamo to third countries, they have not contacted these three men since 
their arrival in Yemen. 32 The men’s own description of the facilities, climate, 
detention regime, and length of their return flight, all indicate they were never in 
Guantánamo  
 
Amnesty International first spoke to Muhammad Bashmilah and Salah ‘Ali on 20 
June 2005. In a report issued six weeks later, Amnesty International revealed that 
Yemeni officials had confirmed that their continued detention in Yemen, and that of a 
third man, Walid al Qadasi, who was returned from Guantánamo in April 2004, was 
without legal basis, and at the request of the US authorities.33 In late July, Muhammad 
Bashmilah says, they were suddenly moved from the Central Prison in Aden to the 
Political Security Prison in Sana’a. He was told they were going there to be released, 
so he gave his few belongings to other prisoners, only to find that they had only been 
taken to Sana’a for questioning. (Walid al Qadasi, the third case in Amnesty 
International’s August report, was also brought to Sana’a, although Muhammad al-
Assad, who had not at that time been interviewed by Amnesty International, was not.) 
Muhammad Bashmilah and Salah ‘Ali were interrogated in Sana’a about the 
circumstances of their arrest and the reasons for their transfer back to Yemen, then 
returned to Aden, where Muhammad Bashmilah was put into solitary confinement for 
five days. Since then, he and Salah ‘Ali have been held separately. He believes the 
sudden trip to Sana’a was aimed at intimidating them,  “and if we go on talking to you 
now”, he added dryly,  “we might be here for life”.   
 
In September 2005, Minister of the Interior Rashad Mohammed al-Alimi announced 
that the men had been accused of belonging to an international terror group and that 
their trial would begin “once the United States had sent through their files”.  Officials 
of the Political Security have also repeatedly told Amnesty International that they are 
awaiting files from the US before bringing any charges against the men. 
 
                                                
32 See ‘US detention related to the events of 11 September 2001 and its aftermath - the role of the ICRC’, 
Operational Update April 2005. 
http://www.icrc.org/Web/Eng/siteeng0.nsf/iwpList454/541ACF6DC88315C4C125700B004FF643 (accessed 13 
October 2005)�
33 USA/Jordan/Yemen: Torture and secret detention: Testimony of the “disappeared” in the “war on terror”, AI 
Index: AMR 51/108/2005 
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Muhammad Bashmilah says he finds this all confusing. “If we were guilty,” he said 
simply, “the Americans would never have released us.” He says that US officials had 
given him the choice of being handed over to Yemen or to another country, and he 
had insisted on Yemen because he was sure that he would be helped and welcomed at 
home.  “More than four months have passed,” he said, “and we are still detained, but 
we hear that others who have been returned to European countries have been released 
and that things have been done to facilitate their return, and this is the opposite to 
what we have here.” 
 
There have been no investigations into any accusations against the men, no charges 
have been made, none of the men have seen a lawyer or been brought before a judge. 
Anxiety and uncertainty over their futures, and the fear that their fate may remain 
unresolved, continue to torment the men and their families. All of them would 
welcome the prospect of trial. “If I am guilty of anything, try me and I will spend the 
rest of my life in jail,” said Muhammad al-Assad,  “only give me a trial”.  
 
“If there really are any charges,” said Muhammad Bashmilah, “we are ready to defend 
ourselves… The Interior Minister says he is waiting for an American decision on our 
cases. But we are Yemenis in Yemen, why is he waiting for the Americans to 
decide?”  
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
“Disappearance” and secret detentions  
 
The US authorities should:  
 

Disclose the location and status of the detention centres where Muhammad 
Abdullah Salah al-Assad, Muhammad Faraj Ahmed Bashmilah and Salah 
Nasser Salim ‘Ali were held; disclose the identities and whereabouts of all 
others held at these places and their legal status, and invite the ICRC to have 
full and regular access to those detained; 
 
End immediately the practices of incommunicado and secret detention 
wherever it is occurring, and under whatever agency;  

 
Hold detainees only in officially recognized places of detention with access to 
family, lawyers and courts;   
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 Ensure that any person alleged to have perpetrated an act of “disappearance” 

should, when the facts disclosed by an official investigation so warrant, be 
brought before the competent civil authorities for prosecution and trial, in 
accordance with Article 14 of the UN Declaration on the Protection of all 
Persons from Enforced Disappearance; 

 

 
Torture 
The US and Jordanian authorities should: 
· Immediately end all acts of torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading 

treatment of punishment, and make it clear to all officials involved in the 
treatment or interrogation of detainees and prisoners that such acts are 
prohibited absolutely and will not be tolerated; 

 
· Investigate all allegations of torture and other ill-treatment of Muhammad 

Abdullah Salah al-Assad, Muhammad Faraj Ahmed Bashmilah and Salah 
Nasser Salim ‘Ali and ensure that anyone found responsible is brought to 
justice; 

 
Prohibit the return or transfer of persons to places where they are at risk of 
torture or other ill-treatment; 

Provide full reparation including restitution, compensation and rehabilitation, 
and satisfaction. 

 
The Yemeni authorities should: 
 

Ensure that no statement coerced as a result of torture or other ill-treatment, 
including long-term indefinite detention without trial, or any other information 
or evidence obtained directly or indirectly as the result of torture or ill-
treatment, is admitted as evidence against any defendant, except the 
perpetrator of the human rights violation in question; 
 
Ensure that the men have access to, and the means to obtain, full reparation 
including restitution, compensation and rehabilitation, and satisfaction. 
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Charge or trial 
The US authorities should:  
 

Clarify the current legal status of former secret detainees Muhammad 
Abdullah Salah al-Assad, Muhammad Faraj Ahmed Bashmilah and Salah 
Nasser Salim ‘Ali.  If US policy is to relinquish all custody and control over 
detainees transferred to the control of another government, it should state 
clearly that this is the case with regard to these three men, and emphasise that 
there are no US conditions attached to their release; 
 
State clearly that there are no conditions attached to the release of Walid 
Muhammad Shahir Muhammad al-Qadasi, who was released from 
Guantánamo in April 2004, and who remains in detention in Yemen without 
charge or trial; 
 
Withdraw all requests or demands to the Yemeni government for the 
continued detention of persons, unless it is with a view to prompt prosecution 
for internationally recognizable criminal offences and in accordance with 
international standards for fair trial; 
 
Release all detainees in US custody at undisclosed locations unless they are to 
be charged with internationally recognizable criminal offences and brought to 
trial promptly and fairly, in full accordance with relevant international 
standards, and without recourse to the death penalty. 
 

 
The Yemeni authorities should: 
· Release Muhammad Abdullah Salah al-Assad, Muhammad Faraj Ahmed 

Bashmilah, Salah Nasser Salim ‘Ali and Walid Muhammad Shahir 
Muhammad al-Qadasi immediately from detention unless they are to be 
promptly charged with internationally recognizable criminal offences and 
brought to trial in a reasonable time in full accordance with international 
standards; 

· Ensure that all detainees are given prompt access to lawyers and to the 
judiciary to challenge the legality of their detention. 
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Security cooperation 
 
The US, Jordanian, Yemeni, Tanzanian and Indonesian authorities should: 
 
- Ensure that human rights laws and standards are strictly adhered to in the 

cooperation between their security forces, and any other country particularly in 
the arrest and questioning of detainees, and detention; 

 
- In particular, ensure that torture and other ill-treatment, arbitrary arrest, secret 

and incommunicado detentions and "disappearances" play no part in such 
cooperation. 
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